#### S178542

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT FILED

YANTING ZHANG, Petitioner,

MAY 1 8 2010

v.

Frederick K. Ohlnich Glerk

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF SAN BERNARDINO COUNTY Pouty

Respondent;



CALIFORNIA CAPITAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Real Party in Interest.

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO CASE NO. E047207

#### OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

#### HORVITZ & LEVY LLP

PETER ABRAHAMS (BAR No. 44757)
MITCHELL C. TILNER (BAR No. 93023)
15760 VENTURA BOULEVARD, 18TH FLOOR
ENCINO, CALIFORNIA 91436-3000
(818) 995-0800 • FAX: (818) 995-3157
pabrahams@horvitzlevy.com
mtilner@horvitzlevy.com

GRANT, GENOVESE & BARATTA LLP

#### ISSUE PRESENTED

The petition for review presents the following issue:

Does California's [Unfair Competition Law, Business & Professions Code section 17200, et seq.] permit insureds and third-party claimants in claim-handling or amount-of-loss lawsuits to plead around *Moradi-Shalal* [v. Fireman's Fund Ins. Co. (1988) 46 Cal.3d 287], and bring private causes of action for the very types of activities proscribed by and intrinsically intertwined with the [Unfair Insurance Practices Act, Insurance Code section 790, et seq.]?

(PFR 1.)

#### INTRODUCTION

This case presents the issue whether a policyholder may turn a dispute with her insurer over the amount owed for a fire loss into an action under the Unfair Competition Law (UCL) (Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200, et seq.) by alleging that the insurer has a general practice of not paying the true value of covered claims.

Plaintiff and petitioner Yanting Zhang sued defendant and real party in interest California Capital Insurance Company when, following a fire at her property, they were unable to agree on the amounts owed for damage to Zhang's building and for business income loss. In addition to seeking contract and tort damages in her first two causes of action, in her third cause of action Zhang purported to state a UCL claim by alleging that California Capital "has no intention of properly paying the true value of its insureds' covered claims." According to Zhang, because California Capital promises its insureds that it will "timely pay proper coverage in the event the insured suffers a covered loss," and allegedly did not pay what Zhang believed was the "true value" of her claim, it violated the UCL by engaging in "deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising . . . ." (See Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200.)

The trial court sustained California Capital's demurrer to the third cause of action without leave to amend, but the Court of Appeal granted Zhang's petition for a writ of mandate and directed the trial court to overrule the demurrer. The Court of Appeal's decision should be reversed because Zhang's attempt to state a UCL cause of action fails for multiple reasons.

First, Zhang has not alleged false advertising because she does not allege that the coverage afforded by her policy differed from the coverage promised in California Capital's advertising. Rather, she alleges that California Capital has failed to pay what it owes under its policy. Her third cause of action alleges wrongful claims handling, not false advertising. If she can state a cause of action for false advertising by alleging that California Capital breached a promise to pay the true value of covered claims, then every lawsuit challenging an insurer's claims handling practices—and particularly those involving amount of loss disputes—could be turned into a false advertising lawsuit because every insurer that advertises implicitly promises that it will pay what it owes under its policies.

Second, Zhang's third cause of action does not state a UCL cause of action because the Legislature has provided insureds with an adequate remedy—appraisal—in the event the insured does not believe that an insurer has paid the true value of a fire loss where the amount of that loss is in dispute.

Third, even outside the context of fire losses, a UCL action cannot be maintained based on disputes regarding an insurer's alleged claims handling practices and amount of loss. Although an insurer that had a practice of never paying the true value of its policyholders' claims would be in violation of the Unfair Insurance Practices Act (Ins. Code, § 790, et seq.) (UIPA) and would be subject to administrative sanctions by the Insurance Commissioner, in Moradi-Shalal (1988) 46 Cal.3d 287 (Moradi-Shalal) this court held that the UIPA does not give rise to a private right of action. In

addition, this court has approved decisions by the courts of appeal rejecting attempts to "plead around" *Moradi-Shalal* by relabeling an action based on an insurer's claims handling practices as a UCL action—precisely what Zhang attempts to do here.

Fourth, a UCL action based on an insurer's alleged claims handling practices would be unmanageable and inconsistent with the Legislature's objective when it enacted that statute, namely, "to provide a streamlined procedure for the prevention of ongoing or threatened acts of unfair competition . . . ." (Cortez v. Purolator Air Filtration Products Co. (2000) 23 Cal.4th 163, 173-174 (Cortez).) A court tasked with determining whether an insurer has a general practice of not offering the true value of its insureds' losses would have to examine thousands of claims, determine the true value of each claim, compare that value to what the insurer offered, and then determine, as to each claim where the insurer offered less than the true value, whether it did so pursuant to a company-wide practice as opposed to an error in judgment by an individual adjuster, or for other reasons. Thus, the trial of such a UCL claim would necessarily devolve into thousands of mini trials.

Fifth, the only remedies available under the UCL are restitution and injunctive relief, neither of which are feasible remedies under the facts alleged by Zhang. Any policyholder who is not offered what he or she believes is the true value of his or her claim has an adequate legal remedy—contract damages. Restitution of the premium would constitute an impermissible double recovery and an injunction is not available to remedy past acts. In addition, the courts have consistently denied injunctive

relief under the UCL where there is an adequate administrative remedy. A court that attempted to police an insurer's handling of the claims of all of its policyholders through the issuance of an injunction would undertake a highly burdensome regulatory function already performed by the Insurance Commissioner, which possesses the expertise and statutory mandate to deal with the sort of amorphous claims of misconduct alleged by Zhang.

Finally, this court should disapprove State Farm Fire & Casualty Co. v. Superior Court (1996) 45 Cal. App. 4th 1093 (State Farm), which held a UCL action may be based on multiple breaches of the implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing. The Court of Appeal in State Farm failed to appreciate that although an individual insured may pursue an action for breach of the implied covenant of good faith based on an insurer's handling of that insured's unique claim, the only remedy available to address an insurer's purported general claims handling practices is an administrative proceeding instituted by the Insurance Commissioner. The Court of Appeal in State Farm also failed to appreciate that a UCL action based on an insurer's alleged general claims handling practices would be unmanageable and would thwart the Legislature's objective of providing a streamlined procedure for preventing unfair practices, and that neither restitutive nor injunctive relief under the UCL is a feasible remedy for an insurer's wrongful claims handling. Indeed, in Cel-Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephone Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 163 (Cel-Tech), this court called into question State

Farm's holding that a UCL action may be based on breach of the implied covenant of good faith. (*Id.* at pp. 186-187.)

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE<sup>1</sup>

Because Yanting Zhang's writ petition challenged an order sustaining California Capital's demurrer to her claim under the UCL, we recite the pertinent facts she alleged, which are assumed to be true only for purposes of this proceeding.

Zhang owned real property in Hesperia, California. (AE 3.) In July 2005, a fire broke out on the property. The fire, and the water used by city officials to suppress the fire, caused extensive damage to the property. (AE 4.)

At the time of the fire, the property was insured under a policy California Capital had issued to Zhang. (AE 3.) The policy covered some or all of the damage to the property. (AE 4, 10.)

Immediately after the fire, Zhang notified California Capital of the losses she had sustained. (AE 4.) California Capital assigned an adjuster, Vince Furriel, who provided plaintiff with a "restoration scope and estimate" of \$102,000, representing California Capital's estimate of the cost to repair and restore the damaged property. (AE 10, 13.) Zhang believed the estimate was too low, so she asked a number of contractors to provide their own

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Record citations are to the Appendix of Exhibits filed in support of Zhang's Petition for Writ of Mandate and are designated as AE, followed by the page number in the appendix.

estimates. (AE 10-11.) Those contractors purportedly estimated the cost of repairs to be about \$200,000. (AE 11.)

Zhang and California Capital were unable to agree on an estimate. (AE 11.) During the course of their dispute, the property was vandalized. (*Ibid.*)

Zhang was losing business income because of the unrepaired building damage. (AE 12.) She asked Furriel to expedite the resolution of her claim. (*Ibid.*) He agreed to do so and, in light of the vandalism, agreed to obtain additional sums to fund the repairs. (*Ibid.*) In paragraph 24 of the complaint, Zhang alleges that these assurances were false and no additional sums were allocated to the repairs. (*Ibid.*) However, in paragraph 31, Zhang alleges that Furriel agreed to increase California Capital's initial estimate to about \$117,000 to account for the vandalism, and California Capital paid plaintiff about \$70,000 of that amount. (AE 13-14.)

California Capital later cancelled Zhang's policy, citing her failure to comply with the company's loss control recommendations. (AE 13.)

Zhang subsequently retained Har-Bro Inc. to provide another restoration scope and estimate for the damaged property. (AE 13.) Har-Bro's estimate was \$208,919. (*Ibid.*) Zhang gave Furriel the estimate, but he refused to consider it or to work with Har-Bro. (*Ibid.*) He contended that Har-Bro's estimate was inflated and covered repairs and upgrades not related to the fire. (*Ibid.*) Zhang contends Furriel's contention was false and misleading. (*Ibid.*)

The parties continued to dispute whether California Capital's estimate was sufficient to repair and restore the property. (AE 14.)

Zhang found another contractor willing to do the restoration work for \$185,000. (*Ibid.*) Furriel declined to increase California Capital's estimate. (AE 14-15.)

Zhang then filed this action against California Capital. The operative second amended complaint alleged that the basis for the action was California Capital's "refusal to provide adequate and proper coverage for a covered first party property damage claim, and related acts, omissions, damage and injury . . . ." (AE 2.)

Zhang pleaded causes of action for breach of contract (AE 21) and breach of implied covenant of good faith (AE 24), both of which included allegations that California Capital's conduct violated Insurance Code section 790.03 and related regulations. (AE 22, 28.)

Most significantly for present purposes, Zhang also pleaded a third cause of action for violation of the UCL. (AE 31.) In that cause of action, Zhang alleged that California Capital

engaged in unfair, deceptive, untrue, and/or misleading advertising when it advertised its Businessowners policy products, such as the California Capital Policy herein. California Capital... promises its insureds that it will timely pay proper coverage in the event the insured suffers a covered loss. By this promise, California Capital... agrees that if an insured suffers compensable loss, it will pay the true value of that covered claim. However, as its conduct herein demonstrates, California Capital... in fact has no intention of properly paying the true value of its insureds' covered claims.

(AE 32.) Because, according to Zhang, it has no intention of honoring its advertised promises, "California Capital has violated Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq., and has

engaged in unfair, deceptive, untrue, and/or misleading advertising." (*Ibid.*) Zhang alleged she was entitled to "restitution of policy premium, and other appropriate restitution . . . . " (*Ibid.*)

On the cause of action for violation of the UCL, Zhang prayed for "[r]estitution to the plaintiff/insured herein," as well as attorney fees. (AE 33-34.)

California Capital demurred to the third cause of action, contending that it failed to allege a cause of action for violations of the UCL. (AE 149.)

The trial court sustained the demurrer without leave to amend. (AE 216-217.) The Court of Appeal granted Zhang's petition for writ of mandate and directed the trial court to reinstate the third cause of action. The Court of Appeal held that Zhang's "allegations in the third cause of action that real party in interest solicited her business through false advertising and false promises clearly justifies a claim under the UCL." (Typed opn., 11.)

#### LEGAL DISCUSSION

- I. THE THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION DOES NOT ALLEGE A VIABLE UNFAIR COMPETITION CLAIM.
- A. Though couched in terms of "false advertising,"

  Zhang's UCL claim actually rests on California

  Capital's alleged undervaluation of her fire loss.

The Court of Appeal held that Zhang's third cause of action alleged false advertising and therefore alleged a claim for "unfair competition" under the UCL.<sup>2</sup> However, Zhang did not allege that the coverage afforded by her policy differed from the coverage promised in California Capital's advertising. Rather, she alleged that California Capital promises its insureds "that it will timely pay proper coverage in the event the insured suffers a covered loss" but, "as its conduct herein demonstrates, California Capital Insurance Company in fact has no intention of properly paying the true value of its insureds' covered claims." (AE 32.) Because the UCL addresses acts and practices, not intentions, Zhang's allegation that California Capital advertises with no intention to pay the full value of claims is directed at California Capital's claims handling, not its

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Business and Professions Code section 17200 provides: "As used in this chapter, unfair competition shall mean and include any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising and any act prohibited by Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 17500) of Part 3 of Division 7 of the Business and Professions Code."

advertising. Indeed, Zhang's second amended complaint alleged that the basis for her action was California Capital's "refusal to provide adequate and proper coverage for a covered first party property damage claim, and related acts, omissions, damage and injury . . . ." (AE 2.) As we demonstrate (§ IV, post), neither remedy under the UCL for false advertising—restitution and an injunction—is feasible based on Zhang's allegations, which confirms she has not stated a claim for false advertising.

If Zhang's pleading is construed as a claim for false advertising, then every lawsuit challenging an insurer's claims handling practices or the amounts it pays for claims could be turned into a false advertising lawsuit because every insurer that advertises implicitly promises that it will pay what it owes under its policies. As we show, because Zhang's third cause of action rests on the wrongful handling and underpayment of her fire loss claim, it does not state a UCL claim.

B. An insured who contends her insurer has undervalued her fire loss may not maintain a UCL action because the Legislature has provided an adequate statutory remedy—appraisal pursuant to Insurance Code section 2071.

As this court explained in *Cel-Tech*, *supra*, 20 Cal.4th 163: "[i]f the Legislature has . . . considered a situation and concluded no action should lie, courts may not override that determination. When specific legislation provides a 'safe harbor' plaintiffs may not

use the general unfair competition law to assault that harbor." (*Id.* at p. 182.)

Here, as the Court of Appeal in Community Assisting Recovery, Inc. v. Aegis Security Ins. Co. (2001) 92 Cal.App.4th 886 (CAR) explained, the Legislature has considered the situation alleged by Zhang and determined that no action for restitution or an injunction under the UCL may be maintained. Rather, if an insurer fails to offer what the insured believes is the true value of a fire loss, the insured has an adequate remedy through appraisal, a form of arbitration. Specifically, Insurance Code section 2071 mandates that every fire insurance policy include a provision that if the insured and the insurer cannot agree on the amount of a fire loss, either can demand an appraisal. The amount for which the insurer is liable shall be payable 60 days after either the insured and the insurer agree as to the amount of the loss or the filing of an appraisal award in the event they are unable to agree. In addition, section 2071 provides:

No suit or action on this policy for the recovery of any claim shall be sustainable in any court of law or *equity* unless all the requirements of this policy shall have been complied with, and unless commenced within 12 months next after inception of the loss.

#### (Emphasis added.)

The provision for appraisal mandated by section 2071 "constitutes an 'agreement' within the meaning of [Code of Civil Procedure] section 1280, subdivision (a), and therefore is considered to be an arbitration agreement subject to the statutory contractual arbitration law." (Louise Gardens of Encino Homeowners' Assn.,

Inc. v. Truck Ins. Exchange, Inc. (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 648, 658.) Consequently, if an insured is dissatisfied with the appraisal award, his or her remedy is to petition to vacate the award pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1285. (Jefferson Ins. Co. v. Superior Court (1970) 3 Cal.3d 398; Cheeks v. California Fair Plan Assn. (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 423.)

In CAR, supra, 92 Cal.App.4th 886, the Court of Appeal. relying upon the appraisal process mandated by Insurance Code section 2071, rejected an attempt to state a UCL claim very similar to the claim Zhang asserts in this case. In CAR, the plaintiff brought an action against 194 insurance companies, alleging that their formula for valuing property loss claims violated the UCL. The trial court sustained the insurers' demurrers without leave to amend and dismissed the action. The Court of Appeal affirmed. It explained that because "[t]he appraisal term [in section 2071] creates an arbitration agreement subject to the statutory contractual arbitration law," "notwithstanding how the insurer approaches valuation of the damaged property during adjustment of the claim, the Legislature has provided the remedy to which the parties must resort for determination of the amount of the loss." (Id. at p. 893.) The Court of Appeal concluded: "[I]f the insured disagrees with a value suggested by the carrier, the appraisal process provides the means by which the dispute is to be settled. In light of the scheme provided by section 2071, plaintiff has failed to demonstrate an unlawful or unfair practice." (Id. at p. 895.)

CAR demonstrates that the Court of Appeal here erred in holding Zhang stated a cause of action under the UCL. Even if she is correct that California Capital "has no intention of properly paying the true value of its insureds' covered claims" (AE 32), under the appraisal process mandated by Insurance Code section 2071, California Capital's "promise is not to pay such damage as the insured should suffer, but to pay such sum as the arbitrator should fix as the amount of damage sustained." (Carroll v. Girard Fire Ins. Co. (1887) 72 Cal. 297, 302.) In other words, even accepting as true Zhang's allegation that California Capital has no intention of paying the true value of claims, an insured who disagrees with what an insurer offers for a claim may compel it to submit the dispute to binding resolution in appraisal. Thus, if any of California Capital's other insureds have not received the full value of their losses, it is not because California Capital acted "unfair[ly]" or "unlawful[ly]" (see Bus. & Prof. Code, § 17200), but because they either failed to avail themselves of the appraisal process or the appraisers erred in appraising the loss.

Zhang alleged that California Capital waived an appraisal because its adjuster told her she had no alternative other than to accept California Capital's valuation of her loss. (AE 16.)<sup>3</sup> But Zhang does not rest her UCL cause of action on this ground. She contends that California Capital has a general practice of not offering to pay the true value of its insureds' claims. As the Court of Appeal here acknowledged, Zhang cannot "recover under [her third]

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