S178542

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

YANTING ZHANG, Petitioner,

v.

SUPREME COURT FILED

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA FOR THE COUNTY OF SAN BERNARDINO,

Respondent.

Frederick K. Ohlrigh Clerk

JUN 9 - 2010

CALIFORNIA CAPITAL INSURANCE COMPANY, Real Party in Interest.

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal, Fourth Appellate District, Division Two
Case No. E047207

### ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

VIAU & KWASNIEWSKI

Gary K. Kwasniewski (Bar No. 126808) Jeanette L. Viau (Bar No. 123224)

One Bunker Hill

601 West Fifth Street, Eighth Floor

Los Angeles, CA 90071-2004

Telephone: (213) 225-5855

Facsimile: (818) 790-6297

gkk@vklawyers.com

jlv@vklawyers.com

#### **ISSUE PRESENTED**

Whether an insured may allege violation of the Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq. based upon:

- (a) unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent conduct by the insurance company that extends beyond just the (mis)handling of the insured's claim;
- (b) predicate theories *other than* Insurance Code section 790.03, including the unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent advertising of the insurance company's insurance contract products.

#### INTRODUCTION

A pivotal issue in this case is whether insurance companies are entitled to broad immunity from the proscriptions of the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL") set forth at Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq., when they engage in unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business practices vis-à-vis first party claims. Petitioner submits that logically, insurance companies are not entitled to a broad immunity not enjoyed by any other business or industry. Further, when the people of the State of California passed Proposition 103 in the November 8, 1988 election, three important sections were added to the California Insurance Code. One of these, section 1861.03(a), expressly provides that the business of insurance shall be subject to the unfair business practices laws set forth pursuant to the UCL.

California Insurance Code section 1861.03(a) states:

# "§ 1861.03. Unfair insurance practices; prohibition

(a) The business of insurance shall be subject to the laws of California applicable to any other business, including, but not limited to... the... unfair business practices laws (Parts 2 commencing with Section 16600 [including 17200])... of the Business and Professions Code."

The importance and utility of a UCL cause of action are multiple:

- The theory focuses on representations carriers make in the sale of their policies to consumers (as opposed to strictly applying to alleged bad faith claims handling).
- The rights and remedies afforded pursuant to the Business and Professions Code are, by the statutory scheme's own terms, "cumulative. . . to the remedies or penalties available under all other laws of this state." (Bus. & Prof. C. § 17205.)
- An injunctive remedy, in a form the trial court finds equitable,
   responsive, and fair under the circumstances should be left to
   the trial courts' discretion.
- Restitution of ill-gotten gains (such as return of policy premium) is a relief accorded pursuant to Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq.
- The California courts, and the Legislature, expressly recognize the importance of a fee award aspect to a UCL claim. Pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5, fees may be awarded to the party prevailing under a 17200 claim where, inter alia, widespread misconduct, affecting a number of consumers, is revealed and exposed.

California Capital's advertisements include the following statements in the carrier's web site:

"Our goal is to be a valuable asset to you - every step of the way, whether you have a claim or not. . . We are second to none in our dedication to your safety and security. . . Our solid commitment to stay by your side has attracted the leading insurance advisors. You can rely on our expert network of independent agents to offer you custom coverage that fits your life." See, www.ciginsurance.com/main body., web page.

Yanting Zhang owned property in Hesperia, California, which she has lost through foreclosure resulting from California Capital's misconduct ("Property"). The Property consisted of multi-unit rentals.

Yanting Zhang viewed the California Capital web site before she purchased the carrier's Policy for the Property. The site's promises gave her reassurance; she purchased the Policy based on the promises made.

On July 5, 2005, Yanting Zhang suffered a fire loss at the Property. As the Second Amended Complaint alleges, California Capital engaged in a variety of misconduct relating to that loss - including acts that rose to a malevolence far exceeding mere claims handling improprieties. Further, as Yanting Zhang expressly alleged:

"92. Defendant California Capital Insurance Company engaged in unfair, deceptive, untrue, and/or misleading advertising when it advertised its Businessowners policy products, such as the California Capital Policy herein. California Capital Insurance Company promises its insureds that it will timely pay proper coverage in the event the insured suffers a covered loss. By this promise, California Capital Insurance Company agrees that if an insured suffers compensable loss, it will pay the true value of that covered claim. However, as its conduct herein demonstrates, California Capital Insurance Company in fact has no intention of properly paying the true value of its insureds' covered claims.

93. As demonstrated by its acts herein, California Capital Insurance Company had and has no intention of honoring such advertised promises. As such, California Capital has violated Business and Professions Code sections 17200, *et seq.*, and has engaged in unfair, deceptive, untrue, and/or misleading advertising.

Yanting Zhang's allegations against Real Party went beyond the carrier's refusal to pay the true value of her covered claims. Whether California Capital is entitled to immunity under the UCL for such far-reaching misconduct with devastating consequences is at the heart of this dispute.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about July 5, 2005, in Unit 6 of the Property, a fire erupted. The fire and resulting damage spread to Unit 1 - as well as other Units at the Property. (AE 173.) The fire was the result of accidental conduct by a tenant.

Appendix of Evidence filed in support of Yanting Zhang's Writ ("AE"), p. 32 of the Appendix.

(AE 173, 174.) The Hesperia Fire Department was dispatched. The fire, and the considerable amount of water necessary to extinguish the fire, caused widespread damage and loss. (AE 174.)

Subsequent to Petitioner's proper and timely loss notice to California Capital, the carrier proceeded to engage in a campaign of deliberate harassment, which appears to have been motivated by bias, prejudice, and greed. (AE 174.) Indeed, California Capital's conduct was so outrageous and took on a personally malevolent tenor that its behavior and actions went far beyond mere "claims handling." (*E.g.*, AE 20, Il. 6 - 15; AE 175, Il. 18 - 22.)

In the wake of California Capital's misconduct, Yanting Zhang lost the Property through foreclosure.

The events in this proceeding illuminate that the appraisal process is not the panacea California Capital contends. California Capital demanded that Yanting Zhang accept \$111,277.75 for Property repairs. Yanting Zhang's contractors' estimates were well above that amount. California Capital invoked Appraisal. The Appraisal was concluded on March 16, 2009. The Appraisal Award is binding upon the parties, with respect to the issue of the cost to repair the real property damage Petitioner suffered. California Capital requested that the Appraisers base the award on November 2005 building prices. Petitioner requested that the Appraisers base the award on March 2007

prices; this was the earliest Petitioner could have the Property repaired in light of her own financial straits and California Capital's underpayment. Each party retained an Appraiser. The Appraisers selected a neutral Umpire.

The binding Award based on November 2005 prices totaled \$185,261.47. The binding Award based on March 2007 prices totaled \$194,491.41. California Capital's Appraiser signed off on the Award. Petitioner's Appraiser refused on the belief that the Award was unacceptably low. Both Awards are, in any event, in stark contrast to the \$111,277.75 California Capital demanded that Petitioner accept.

It was California Capital that insisted upon the Appraisal. Petitioner initially represented herself in *pro per*. At that time, she could ill afford the Appraisal, and was at a complete loss when faced with the carrier's complicated Appraisal Instructions and Conditions. Only with the assistance of counsel was Petitioner able to meaningfully participate in the Appraisal.

The Appraisal costs alone for Petitioner exceeded \$30,000, due in part to the contentiousness of the process, and errors by California Capital's Appraiser. By the Appraisal Award, it was determined that California Capital undervalued Petitioner's property losses at least by approximately \$73,000.00.

That is a significant undervaluation by any analysis. As stated above, that undervaluation lead to financial disaster for the Petitioner, and loss of the

Property through foreclosure. The costs, effort, and time required to establish that undervaluation verged on prohibitive.

In addition to its undervaluation of Petitioner's property loss, the carrier's acrimonious campaign included conduct not proscribed in the Unfair Insurance Practices Act ("UIPA" at Insurance Code sections 790.03, et seq.):

Harassing and dunning notices from California Capital advising Petitioner that if she did not repair the Property, the carrier would cancel her insurance. However, it was because of California Capital's own unreasonable undervaluation, conduct, and delays that Petitioner could not properly repair the Property. As such, California Capital engaged in "unfair," harmful conduct against Petitioner, causing her physical and emotional California Capital then cancelled injury and damage. Petitioner's Policy (AE 12, 13) - in violation of Insurance Code section 675.5. California Capital's dunning cancellation notices, and unlawful cancellation of her Policy, were not claims handling practices. This conduct was unlawful, and unfair, and motivated out of a desire to harm the Petitioner. This conduct is not proscribed in the UIPA. (AE 175.) Rather, the conduct is prohibited by Insurance Code sections 675, et seq., and

- constitutes a non-UIPA predicate theory for Petitioner's UCL claim.
- Interfering with Petitioner's attempts to retain a Public Adjuster to assist her. At least one such Public Adjuster refused to work on Petitioner's claim once he discovered the identity of the California Capital adjuster. (AE 175.)
- Informing the mortgage holder on the Property that Petitioner had no intention of effectuating repairs. The California Capital adjuster testified in deposition that, in fact, he knew at all times Petitioner fully intended to repair the Property. By 2007, Petitioner had to pay out of her own pocket in her attempts to repair the Property, which was the catalyst for her financial hardship. California Capital's fraudulent representations to the mortgage holder caused the mortgage holder to initiate legal proceedings against the Petitioner - legal proceedings Petitioner had to defend. (AE 175.) Real Party's representations were unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent, and constitute economic contractual interference between Petitioner and her mortgage company. The stress resulting from having to defend against the mortgage company's accusations caused Petitioner severe

pregnancy complications, and the premature birth of her daughter, with its attendant health risks.

This was not merely a "reasonable dispute over the amount of loss." This was years of personal, vindictive animus by the carrier - conduct nowhere delineated in or proscribed by the UIPA. Petitioner specifically alleges conduct *other than* UIPA violations as constituting Real Party's unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent conduct. Petitioner's UCL claim is not an attempt to plead around *Moradi-Shalal*. Petitioner's UCL claim is an attempt to hold a business accountable for its misconduct, and to provide the trial court with the means of fashioning appropriate equitable remedies towards achieving that accountability.

#### LEGAL DISCUSSION

- I. THE UNFAIR COMPETITION LAW APPLIES TO ALL
  "BUSINESSES," AND DOES NOT EXEMPT INSURANCE
  COMPANIES
  - A. By Its Express Terms, The UCL Statute Applies To All
    Businesses

Business and Professions Code section 17200 states:

### **"§ 17200. Definition**

As used in this chapter, unfair competition shall mean and include any unlawful, unfair or fraudulent business act or practice and unfair, deceptive, untrue or misleading advertising and any act prohibited by Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 17500) of Part 3 of Division 7 of the Business and Professions Code."

The UCL does not carve out an exception for insurance companies.

Moreover, the courts broadly construe what constitutes "unfair competition" under the UCL:

"The statutory language referring to 'any unlawful, unfair *or* fraudulent practice' makes clear that

a practice may be deemed unfair even if not specifically proscribed by some other law. 'Because Business and Professions Code section 17200 is written in the disjunctive, it establishes three varieties of unfair competition – acts or practices which are unlawful, or unfair, or fraudulent. In other words, a practice is prohibited as 'unfair' or 'deceptive' even if not 'unlawful' and *vice versa*.'

'[T]he Legislature... intended by this sweeping language to permit tribunals to enjoin on-going wrongful business conduct in whatever context such activity might occur. Indeed... the section was intentionally framed in its broad, sweeping language, precisely to enable judicial tribunals to deal with the innumerable new schemes which the fertility of man's invention would contrive.' (American Philatelic Soc. v. Claibourne (1953) 3 Cal.2d 689, 698.) As the Claibourne court observed: 'When a scheme is evolved which on its face violates the fundamental rules of honesty and fair dealing, a court of equity is not impotent

to frustrate its consummation because the scheme is an original one.'...'[I]t would be impossible to draft in advance detailed plans and specifications of all acts and conduct to be prohibited since unfair or fraudulent business practices may run the gamut of human ingenuity and chicanery."

(Emphasis in original and added. Cel-Tech Communications, Inc. v. L.A. Cellular Telephone Co. (1999) 20 Cal.4th 163, 180 - 181; Stop Youth Addiction, Inc. v. Lucky Stores, Inc. (1998) 17 Cal.4th 553, 573 - 574.)

There is no exemption in the statute for insurance companies. To the contrary, the UCL includes "wrongful business conduct in whatever context such activity might occur." (*People v. McKale* (1979) 25 Cal.3d 626, 632.)

# B. The Courts Uniformly Hold That Insurance Companies Are Subject To The UCL

As the Fourth District Court noted, "[u]ndoubtedly an insurer is subject to suit under the UCL, and numerous cases so reflect." (Slip Op. at 5.) For example:

• Suit brought under the UCL "seeking to enjoin improper handling of claims. . . ." (*Gallimore v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Ins. Co.* (2002) 102 Cal.App.4th 1388, 1391, as described by the Court

- in Dible v. Haight Ashbury Free Clinics, Inc. (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 843, 851.)
- UCL allegations upheld in a case predicated on claims mishandling based upon the carrier's bad faith denial of coverage for the insureds' Northridge earthquake claims.
   (Kapsimallis v. Allstate Ins. Co. (2002) 104 Cal.App.4th 667, 676 677.)
- Suit against an insurance carrier relating to automobile insurance rates and premiums alleging UCL violations upheld.

  The Insurance Commissioner does not have exclusive jurisdiction over carriers, and the courts may enforce UCL remedies in civil cases. (Donabedian v. Mercury Ins. Co. (2004) 116 Cal.App.4th 968, 984; see extended discussion at pages 18 21.)
- In *Progressive West Ins. Co. v. Superior Court* (2005) 135

  Cal.App.4th 263, the Court found that the plaintiff/insured properly alleged a UCL theory based on the insurance company's "sharp, illicit business practice." The Court itself articulated the insured's theory:

"Preciado [insured] alleges that Progressive has a 'pattern and practice of ignoring California Law by seeking 100% reimbursement for the amounts paid under its med-pay provision. This systematic scheme is contrary to law, and is nothing more than a sharp, illicit business practice.' Based on these key allegations, Preciado alleges Progressive fails to investigate claims, fails to properly explain policy benefits, misled Preciado and misrepresented material facts pertaining to his claim, imposes unacceptably high reimbursement amounts, and forced Preciado to retain an attorney and incur economic damages in order to receive proper benefits under the policy.

These practices, to the extent they are more general than the allegations of the breach of contract and breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing causes of action, state a cause of action. . . . " (*Id.* at 283.)

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